

Guide to workplace right of entry by work health and safety entry permit holders

Information			
Issue Date:	Next Review Date:	Network:	Version

16/12/2024 16/12/2027 Overall 01

Document Number:

Alternative Number:

MTSMS-SF-GUI-000010 N/A





Table of contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	General requirements for entry permit holders	
3.	Requirements for other persons	
4.	·	
	4.1.1 Entry to inquire into a suspected contravention	
	4.1.2 Entry to inspect employee records (held by MTS) or information held by another	er
	person	6
	4.1.3 Entry to consult and advise workers	7
5.	Dealing with disputes	
6.	Offences	
Δ	ppendix	
_	ppendix	
	APPENDIX A: Version History	9
	APPENDIX B: Related Documents	
	APPENDIX C: Sample Notice of Entry	. 11
	APPENDIX D: Meaning of 'Employee Record'	.13





1. Introduction

This guide outlines the principles applicable to Work Health and Safety (WHS) Entry Permit Holders (EPHs) as defined under Part 7 of the *Work Health and Safety Act 2011* (WHS Act) and Part 2.4 of the *Work Health and Safety Regulation 2017* (WHS Regulation). It provides guidance on the circumstances under which EPHs may enter Metro Trains Sydney (MTS) workplaces, their permitted activities upon entry, and how disputes regarding their right of entry may be managed.

Union officials seeking to exercise entry rights for WHS purposes must hold a valid WHS entry permit issued by the Industrial Relations Commission. A public register of current WHS entry permit holders is maintained and accessible at the Register of WHS Permit Holders.

Under the WHS Act, an EPH may enter a Workplace to:

- Inquire into suspected contraventions (section 117) of WHS legislation and inspect employee records or other relevant documents, provided the suspected contravention relates to a relevant worker.
- Consult and advise relevant workers (section 121) on WHS matters.

A 'relevant worker' refers to an individual who:

- Is a member or eligible union member represented by the EPH.
- Has their industrial interests represented by the union.
- · Works at the Workplace.

EPHs and Persons Conducting a Business or Undertaking (PCBUs), such as MTS, are required to adhere to specific statutory requirements regarding the exercise of rights of entry, the scope of permissible activities, and the resolution of disputes. These rights and obligations are essential for fostering collaborative relationships and ensuring WHS compliance.

If disputes arise concerning an EPH's entry or activities, mechanisms are available to resolve them, including the appointment by SafeWork NSW of an inspector to assist in resolving the dispute or the Industrial Relations Commission may deal with the dispute.

MTS remains committed to promoting effective collaboration with EPHs to uphold workplace safety and foster a culture of compliance and mutual respect.

For the purpose of this guide, the term *Workplace* means a place where work is carried out for a business or undertaking including any place where MTS workers (including employees, contractors and employees of contractors) go or are likely to be.

2. General requirements for entry permit holders

To exercise a right of entry to a Workplace, an EPH must:

- hold a current work health and safety entry permit issued by the NSW Industrial Relations Commission
- hold an entry permit under the NSW Industrial Relations Act 1996 or the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth) (FW Act)
- only attempt to enter during the usual working hours at the Workplace
- not enter any part of a Workplace that is used only for residential purposes
- give notice of entry as required.

When at a Workplace, an EPH must:

- produce their work health and safety entry permit and photographic identification if requested
- comply with any reasonable request by the relevant person conducting a business or undertaking or the person with management or control of the Workplace to comply with





- any work health and safety requirement that applies to any visitor to the Workplace (e.g. site induction, requirement for specific PPE)
- any other legislated requirement that applies to visitors to that type of Workplace
- not contravene a condition imposed on their work health and safety entry permit
- not intentionally and unreasonably:
 - delay, hinder or obstruct any person or
 - disrupt any work at the Workplace
- Otherwise, do not act in an improper manner (e.g., when an EPH seeks to enter the Workplace without prior notification to consult with relevant workers).

Where an EPH enters the Workplace to inquire into a suspected contravention or to consult and advise relevant workers, they may only visit the area where the relevant workers work or other work areas that directly affect the health or safety of those workers.

Note:

- 1. The identity of the relevant PCBU and the person with management or control of the workplace will depend on the purpose for which the EPH enters the workplace.
- 2. An EPH is not required to disclose the name of any worker at the Workplace to MTS or the person with management or control of the Workplace, and if the EPH wishes to disclose the name of any worker, they may only do so with the consent of that worker.

3. Requirements for other persons

A person (including the relevant PCBU and the person with management or control of the Workplace e.g. MTS) must not, without reasonable excuse, refuse or unduly delay entry into a Workplace by an EPH.

Examples of unreasonable refusal or delay may include:

- if a supervisor attempted to delay an EPH's entry until the supervisor's manager returned to the Workplace the next day, even though the manager had left the supervisor in charge
- If MTS or another PCBU refuses to allow the EPH entry until they disclose the name of the worker who called them.

Examples of reasonable delay or refusal may include MTS or another PCBU delaying or refusing entry:

- if an EPH tries to enter the Workplace to consult and advise relevant workers without providing prior notice of entry at least 24 hours in advance
- if the EPH does not show their permit when requested.

Additionally, a person must not intentionally and unreasonably hinder or obstruct an EPH from entering the Workplace or exercising any rights that an EPH has after entry to the Workplace.

For example, if a manager refused to allow an EPH access to records of plant maintenance relating to the suspected contravention, which were kept at or accessible from a computer at the Workplace, this may constitute intentionally and unreasonably hindering an EPH in exercising their rights. (Note that access by an EPH to certain documents which are 'employee records' requires prior notice of proposed entry to have been given – see Type of entry over the page.)

If allowing an EPH to inspect or make copies of a document would cause a person to breach privacy laws, then they may refuse to provide the document, and such refusal would not be considered an intentional and unreasonable hindrance or obstruction of an EPH's exercise of rights.





4. Types of entry

There are three types of entry that an EPH may exercise. If the EHP reasonably suspects the contravention relates to a relevant worker:

- 1. entry to inquire into a suspected contravention
- 2. entry to inspect employee records held by MTS or other the relevant PCBU or information held by another person.

In other circumstances (i.e. without the need for the EHP to suspect a contravention):

3. entry to consult and advise workers.

4.1.1 Entry to inquire into a suspected contravention

A EPH may enter the Workplace to inquire into a suspected contravention that relates to or affects a relevant worker. The EPH must reasonably suspect before entering the Workplace that this contravention has occurred or is occurring.

To have a reasonable suspicion, the EPH must have some information about activities in the Workplace that would lead them to suspect there has been a contravention or that a contravention is occurring. For example, a reasonable suspicion could be based on:

- a complaint made to an EPH that provides details of incidents or processes at the Workplace
- a direct observation by the EPH, while outside the Workplace, of an incident or event that is likely to constitute a contravention
- a report in the media of an incident or event at the Workplace.

The suspected contravention may include any acts or omissions by a duty holder that impact or may impact on the health and safety of relevant workers.

The following are some examples:

- plant and equipment machine being operated with missing guards
- work systems working at heights with no or inadequate fall protection
- chemicals workers using certain chemicals without appropriate personal protective equipment
- consultation workers not consulted on proposed changes to the work system which directly affect their health and safety
- Workplace inadequate lighting or poor ventilation
- amenities unhygienic dining or toilet facilities.

Does an EPH need to provide notice of entry regarding a suspected contravention?

A EPH must, as soon as is reasonably practicable after entry, provide written notice of entry.

There is no requirement to provide a notice of entry in situations where this would:

- defeat the purpose of entry to the Workplace
- unreasonably delay the EPH in an urgent case (e.g. may relate to working at height without fall protection or demolishing asbestos-containing material without breathing apparatus).

The notice of entry must be given to the relevant PCBU and the person responsible for management or control of the Workplace. This may be two different persons.

The relevant PCBU will be the PCBU to whom the suspected contravention relates.

If labour-hire workers are affected by a suspected contravention by the host business or undertaking, the relevant PCBU will be the host business or undertaking. In these circumstances, the EPH does not need to give notice of entry to the labour-hire company.





If the relevant PCBU is also the person with management or control of the workplace, only one notice of entry is needed. For example, when MTS is suspected of contravening the WHS Act, MTS will usually be both the relevant PCBU and the person with management and control.

Examples where the relevant PCBU may be different to the person with management or control of the Workplace, requiring more than one notice of entry to be provided to different people, are:

- Where MTS, as a principal contractor, engages subcontractors on a construction site, and the suspected contravention relates to an unsafe system of work by a subcontractor (the relevant PCBU will be the subcontractor, and the person with management and control will be the principal contractor).
- Where there is a cleaning company contracted to clean an MTS site, and the suspected contravention relates to workers engaged by the cleaning contractor using cleaning substances in an unsafe manner (the relevant PCBU will be the cleaning contractor, and the person with management and control will be MTS).

The notice of entry should be given in person to the relevant PCBU and person with management or control of the workplace, or where these are entities, to the individual the EPH and the PCBU have agreed or who the EPH reasonably believes is an appropriate recipient on behalf of the entity during the time the EPH is present at the Workplace.

If the EPH has any doubt that the notice of entry will be received, they should provide the notice again by email or fax as soon as is reasonably practicable after leaving the Workplace.

The notice of entry must be written and must contain:

- the full name of the EPH providing the notice
- the name of the union the EPH represents
- the section of the WHS Act that enables the EPH to enter the Workplace
- the name and address of the Workplace the EPH has entered
- the date of the entry or proposed entry
- so far as is practicable, the particulars of the suspected contravention to which the notice relates

A EPH must provide sufficient information about the suspected contravention in order to enable MTS or an inspector to be able to determine the scope of the inquiry, including general location(s) (e.g. suspected contravention in the provision of safe plant within production areas of the Workplace). An EPH is not required to provide such specific details that individual workers may be identified (e.g., lack of machine guarding on production lines and stamping machines).

The notice must also include a declaration stating:

- the EPH's union is entitled to represent the industrial interests of a worker who carries out work at the Workplace and is a member or eligible to be a member of that union
- the provision in the union's rules that entitles the union to represent the industrial interests of that worker
- the suspected contravention relates to or affects that worker.

What may an EPH do when they are at the Workplace regarding a suspected contravention?

While at the Workplace, the EPH may:

- Inspect any work system, plant, substance, structure or other thing relevant to the suspected contravention.
- Consult with the relevant workers in relation to the suspected contravention.
- Consult with the relevant PCBU about the suspected contravention.
- Require the relevant PCBU to allow the EPH to inspect and make copies of any document (other than employee records) that is directly relevant to the suspected contravention and that is kept at the Workplace or accessible from a computer kept at the Workplace (e.g. licenses for operating high-risk plants, safe work method statements, risk assessments, incident reports and investigations, maintenance records, material safety data sheets and plant manuals).





• Warn any person whom the EPH reasonably believes to be exposed to a serious risk to his or her health or safety emanating from immediate or imminent exposure to a hazard associated with the suspected contravention of that risk.

Note:

- 1. The relevant PCBU is not required to allow an EPH to inspect or make copies of information if to do so would contravene a Commonwealth, State or Territory law.
- 2. The use or disclosure of personal information obtained by the EPH is regulated under the *Privacy Act 1988* (Cth) (Privacy Act).

After an EPH inquires about a suspected contravention, what action may they take?

The EPH's role is to inquire about a suspected contravention with both the relevant workers and relevant PCBU and provide suggestions on what could be done to resolve identified concerns. They do not have the power to determine whether a contravention has occurred and/or direct what needs to be done to remedy the contravention.

4.1.2 Entry to inspect employee records (held by MTS) or information held by another person

An EPH may enter any Workplace for the purpose of inspecting or making copies of employee records or documents directly relevant to the suspected contravention.

Employee records of the relevant PCBU may be held at the Workplace (e.g., employee training records).

Other documents, including employee records, may be held at the Workplace of another person. Examples include:

- a contractor holding records on repairs and maintenance of plant and equipment;
- a hygienist holding records relating to the Workplace
- designers, manufacturers or suppliers of plant or substances holding records relating to tests undertaken concerning the safety of plant or substances.

<u>Does an EPH need to provide notice of entry to inspect employee records or information held by another person?</u>

If an EPH wishes to inspect employee records held at the relevant PCBU's Workplace or information held by another person, they must provide a 'notice of proposed entry' during usual working hours at the Workplace, at least 24 hours, but no more than 14 days, prior to entering the Workplace.

The notice of proposed entry should be able to be read and understood and must contain:

- the full name of the EPH providing the notice
- the name of the union the EPH represents
- the section of the WHS Act that enables the EPH to enter the Workplace
- the name and address of the Workplace the EPH proposes to enter
- the date of the proposed entry
- so far as is practicable, the particulars of the suspected contravention to which the notice relates and a
 description of the employee records or documents, or the classes of employee records or documents directly
 relevant to the suspected contravention, that are proposed to be inspected.

The notice must also include a declaration stating:

- the EPH's union is entitled to represent the industrial interests of a worker who is a member or eligible to be a member of that union
- the provision in the union's rules that entitles the union to represent the industrial interests of that worker
- the suspected contravention relates to or affects that worker
- the records and documents proposed to be inspected relate to that contravention.





The notice of proposed entry must be given to the person from whom the employee records or documents are requested and the relevant PCBU. The relevant PCBU in this scenario will be the PCBU to whom the suspected contravention relates.

The person from whom the records or documents are requested will be the individual or entity who the EPH believes is in possession of the records or documents.

The notice of proposed entry can be given by email or fax if not given in person.

What may an EPH do at the Workplace after entry to inspect or make copies of employee records or information held by another person?

The EPH may inspect or make copies of employee records or documents directly relevant to the suspected contravention. This may involve:

- Take notes about the information in the inspected records or documents
- · photographing records or documents
- · photocopying relevant records or documents
- ending relevant records or documents electronically to themselves (e.g. by fax or email).

Note: The use or disclosure of personal information obtained by the EPH is regulated under the Privacy Act.

4.1.3 Entry to consult and advise workers

An EPH may enter a Workplace to consult on work health and safety matters and provide advice on those matters to one or more relevant workers who wish to participate in the discussion.

If, after entry, the EPH finds no relevant workers at the Workplace or the relevant workers at the Workplace do not want to engage in work health and safety discussions with the EPH, the EPH must leave.

Does an EPH need to provide notice of entry regarding entry to consult and advise workers?

An EPH must provide a 'notice of proposed entry' during usual working hours at the Workplace, at least 24 hours but no more than 14 days prior to entering the Workplace.

The notice of proposed entry should be able to be read and understood and must contain:

- · the full name of the EPH providing the notice
- the name of the union the EPH represents
- the section of the WHS Act that enables the EPH to enter the Workplace
- the name and address of the Workplace the EPH proposes to enter
- the date of the proposed entry.

The notice of proposed entry must also include a declaration stating:

- that the EPH's union is entitled to represent the industrial interests of a worker who carries out work at the Workplace and is a member or eligible to be a member of that union
- The provision in the union's rules entitles the union to represent the industrial interests of that worker.

The notice is not required to include information on what matters will be the subject of consultation or advice.

The notice of proposed entry must be given to the relevant PCBU or PCBUs (the PCBUs that engaged the relevant workers to do the work at the Workplace into which the EPH wishes to enter).

What is a suitable time and place to consult and advise relevant workers?

The EPH and the relevant PCBUs should negotiate a suitable time for the discussion between the EPH and relevant workers to be held, bearing in mind that the EPH must not intentionally and unreasonably disrupt work and that the relevant PCBU must not intentionally hinder or obstruct the EPH in their efforts to consult and advise relevant





workers. A suitable time may include relevant workers' meal breaks, rest periods or pauses in work. However, unlike the provisions relating to entry under the FW Act, the right of entry under the WHS Act is not restricted to meal times or other breaks.

This negotiation may take place before the 'notice of proposed entry' is provided, during the period after the 'notice of proposed entry' is provided but before the EPH enters the Workplace, or after entry has taken place at the end of the notice period but before the EPH acts to consult and advise.

What may an EPH do at the Workplace after entry to consult and advise relevant workers?

The EPH may consult on work health and safety matters and advise one or more relevant workers who wish to participate in the discussion. This discussion can focus on general health and safety topics or relate to health and safety matters the EPH wishes to discuss because they will interest such workers.

While at the Workplace, the EPH may also warn any person whom the EPH reasonably believes to be exposed to a serious risk to their health or safety, emanating from immediate or imminent exposure to a hazard, of that risk.

For example, if an EPH, while on a building site to consult workers, observes a person working or about to work at height without fall protection, the EPH may inform that person of the serious risk arising from the work practice. The EPH may not direct the person to remove themselves from the risk but only warn them of the risk they are exposed to.

5. Dealing with disputes

Situations can occur when an EPH's right of entry and exercise of powers after entry may be disputed. This may concern:

- compliance with reasonable requests to comply with WHS or other legislated requirements
- · the credentials of the EPH
- disagreement about the entitlement of the EPH's union to represent the industrial interests of the relevant workers
- the adequacy or otherwise of the notice of entry or notice of proposed entry provided by the EPH
- · disruption of work
- · access to employee records or documents.

In these circumstances, any party to the dispute may ask SafeWork NSW to appoint an inspector to attend the Workplace to assist in resolving the dispute. The inspector will discuss the matter with both parties to assist them in resolving the dispute (including informing the parties of his or her opinion about the matter and reasons for this opinion), but the inspector cannot make a decision on how the dispute must be resolved.

Note: Where a SafeWork NSW inspector believes the health and safety matter is sufficiently serious, the inspector may decide to enter the Workplace to inquire into the matter and, where necessary, use their own compliance powers as required.

Alternatively, an application can be made to the Industrial Relations Commission to resolve the dispute. The Industrial Relations Commission can deal with the dispute in any way it thinks fit, including by means of mediation, conciliation, or any order it considers appropriate following arbitration.

6. Offences

SafeWork NSW can commence legal proceedings, and civil penalties may apply to any person who fails to meet the requirements of this Policy that apply to them.





APPENDIX A: Version History

Approval Record

Function	Position	Name	Signature	Date
Prepared by	Safety & Risk Advisor	Sam Akkawy	Alguni	16/12/24
Reviewed by	Head of Safety, Quality, Risk and Environment	Melissa Northey	m a navetey	16/12/24
Approved by	General Manager Safety, Quality, Risk & Environment	Amanda Calvez	Latie	17/12/24

MTS General Long Template. *Document number MTSMS-DC-TEM-000003 rev 01 date 15/10/2024.

Amendment Record

Date	Rev	Amendment description	Ву
16/12/2024	1	First Issue.	Sam Akkawy





APPENDIX B: Related Documents

Note: some documents will be closely interconnected and will need to be reviewed when this one is changed. Others are simply related content that supplements the material in this document.

Document #	Document title	Review
SafeWork NSW	Guide to workplace right of entry by work health and safety entry permit holders.	Yes





APPENDIX C: Sample Notice of Entry

SafeWork NSW	
Sample notice of entry	GOVERNMENT
Privacy Act 1988 NSW Industrial Relations Act 1996 Fair Work Act 2009	January 2024
Full name of entry permit holder	Name and address of workplace being entered
Name of union represented	Date of entry proposed* entry (dd/mm/yyyy)
Section 1: Purpose of entry Section 117 – to inquire into a suspected contraventio relevant worker.	*For entry under Section 120 or 121: 24 hours-14 days notice must be given on of the WHS Act which relates to or affects a
Section 120 – to inspect employee records held by the documents held by another person that are directly respected to the section 121 - to consult and advise relevant workers of the Section 2: Additional – for entry under Section 3: Addition	elevant to a suspected contravention of the WHS Act. on health and safety matters. ections 117 and 120 to which this notice relates (for example what are the
Section 3: Additional – for entry under seconds held by the relevant PCBU and/documents held by another person List of the employee records or other documents directly reproposed to be inspected or copied	or employee records or other





Section 4: Declaration Entry under sections 117, 120 and 121 only: The above union is entitled to represent the industrial interest of relevant worker(s) at this workplace who are or are eligible to be a member of the union.			
The provision in the union's rules that entitles the union to represent the industrial interests of these worker(s) is:			
Entry under section 117 and 120 only:			
The suspected contravention relates to or affects worker(s) that the union is entitled to represent.			
Entry under section 120 only:			
The employee records or other documents proposed to be inspected and/or copied are directly relavent to the suspected contravention referred to above.			
Work health and safety EPH signature Data (dd/mm/yyyy)			
The legislation provides for civil penalties of up to \$10,000 for individuals and \$50,000 for a body corporate relating to breaches of right of entry laws.			
© Copyright SafeWork NSW 0716 Locked Bag 2906, Lisarow, NSW 2252 Customer Service Centre 13 10 50 SafeWork NSW, 92–100 Donnison Street, Gosford, NSW 2250 www.safework.nsw.gov.au			



APPENDIX D: Meaning of 'Employee Record'

The WHS Act requires prior notice of entry by an EPH to inspect and make copies of employee records that are directly relevant to a suspected contravention, whether held by the relevant PCBU or another person.

The Privacy Act provides useful guidance on the meaning of 'employee record'. The requirements in the WHS Act relating to 'employee records' are intended to reflect those in the FW Act. In that Act, the term 'employee record' is defined to have the same meaning as in the Privacy Act.

An employee record is a record of personal information relating to the employment of the employee. Examples of personal information relating to the employment of the employee are health information about the employee and personal information about all or any of the following:

- the engagement, training, disciplining or resignation of the employee
- the termination of the employment of the employee
- · the terms and conditions of employment of the employee
- · the employee's personal and emergency contact details
- · the employee's performance or conduct
- the employee's hours of employment
- the employee's salary or wages
- the employee's membership in a professional or trade association
- the employee's trade union membership
- the employee's recreation, long service, sick, personal, maternity, paternity or other leave
- the employee's taxation, banking or superannuation affairs.

Personal information means information or an opinion (including information or an opinion forming part of a database), whether true or not, and whether recorded in a material form or not, about an individual whose identity is apparent or can reasonably be ascertained from the information or opinion.

Health information means:

- information or an opinion about:
 - the health or a disability (at any time) of an individual
 - an individual's expressed wishes about the future provision of health services to him or her
 - a health service provided, or to be provided, to an individual that is also personal information or
 - other personal information collected to provide, or in providing a health service
- other personal information about an individual collected in connection with the donation, or intended donation, by the individual of his or her body parts, organs or body substances, or
- genetic information about an individual in a form that is, or could be, predictive of the health of the individual or a genetic relative of the individual.

Health service means:

- an activity performed in relation to an individual that is intended or claimed (expressly or otherwise) by the individual or the person performing it:
 - to assess, record, maintain or improve the individual's health
 - to diagnose the individual's illness or disability
 - to treat the individual's illness or disability or suspected illness or disability, or
 - the dispensing on prescription of a drug or medicinal preparation by a pharmacist.

Individual means a natural person.



Guide to workplace right of entry by work health and safety entry permit holders

Final Audit Report 2024-12-16

Created: 2024-12-16

By: Sam Akkawy (sam.akkawy@metrotrains-sydney.com.au)

Status: Signed

Transaction ID: CBJCHBCAABAAjajx0EhfyHS8K4b36oP0jnldkHZ5GWv9

"Guide to workplace right of entry by work health and safety entry permit holders" History

- Document created by Sam Akkawy (sam.akkawy@metrotrains-sydney.com.au) 2024-12-16 9:40:54 AM GMT
- Document emailed to Sam Akkawy (sam.akkawy@metrotrains-sydney.com.au) for signature 2024-12-16 9:40:58 AM GMT
- Email viewed by Sam Akkawy (sam.akkawy@metrotrains-sydney.com.au) 2024-12-16 9:41:48 AM GMT
- Document e-signed by Sam Akkawy (sam.akkawy@metrotrains-sydney.com.au)

 Signature Date: 2024-12-16 9:42:13 AM GMT Time Source: server
- Document emailed to Melissa Northey (melissa.northey@metrotrains-sydney.com.au) for signature 2024-12-16 9:42:15 AM GMT
- Email viewed by Melissa Northey (melissa.northey@metrotrains-sydney.com.au) 2024-12-16 10:46:51 AM GMT
- Document e-signed by Melissa Northey (melissa.northey@metrotrains-sydney.com.au)
 Signature Date: 2024-12-16 10:47:07 AM GMT Time Source: server
- Document emailed to Amanda Calvez (amanda.calvez@metrotrains-sydney.com.au) for signature 2024-12-16 10:47:08 AM GMT
- Email viewed by Amanda Calvez (amanda.calvez@metrotrains-sydney.com.au)
 2024-12-16 9:08:33 PM GMT
- Document e-signed by Amanda Calvez (amanda.calvez@metrotrains-sydney.com.au)

 Signature Date: 2024-12-16 9:08:50 PM GMT Time Source: server



Agreement completed. 2024-12-16 - 9:08:50 PM GMT 🟃 Adobe Acrobat Sign